THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

In The Court of Appeals

RECEIVED

Nov 14 2022

SC Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM HORRY COUNTY

Benjamin H. Culbertson, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2021-000838

Case No. 2018-CP-26-5438

Tara Gurry,

Appellant,

v.

Myrtle Beach Dermatology, LLC,

Respondents.

Shannon Hussey, Richard Hussey M.D.

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Tara Gurry

711 A 3rd Avenue S,

North Myrtle Beach, SC 29582

(843) 877-5839

Appellant-Pro Se Litigant

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. Did the trial court err by finding expert witness entire opinion is based on a theory of res ipsa loquitur?
2. Did the trial court err by finding expert witness opinions are not based upon reliable medicine or science?
3. Did the trial court err by finding expert witness opinions are based purely on speculation, and are wholly unreliable and his testimony is excluded?
4. Did the trial court err by filing an order granting Summary Judgment?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On April 24, 2018 Plaintiff, Tara Gurry filed a Notice of Intent for Medical Malpractice against Defendants, Shannon Hussey, Richard Hussey M.D., and Myrtle Beach Dermatology, LLC. On September 27, 2018, Appellant filed a Summons and Complaint against the Respondents in the Horry County Court of Common Pleas. Respondents filed an Answer on October 25, 2018 denying liability. On August 2, 2019, ADR Mediation took place. This case was given a Date Certain of June 28, 2021.

On June 28, 2021 at the pre-trial hearing, this matter came before the Court upon a Motion in Limine by the Defendants' counsel to Challenge, Limit, and/or Exclude the testimony from trial of Plaintiff's expert Dr. Schield Wikas. Present were Defendants' Attorneys' Marian Scalise, and Lydia Magee, Pro Se Plaintiff Tara Gurry (Appellant), and the Honorable Judge Benjamin Culbertson.

The circumstances of this hearing are that Defense Counsel handed Appellant a large stack of 24 Motions in Limine that were just filed that morning, which was going to be the first day of trial. Right after that, it was the preliminary jury selection process, and after that, the pre-trial hearing began. Obviously, Appellant had no time to read through the motions, never mind come up with good arguments, and evidence to defend.

This medical malpractice case against the Defendants, specifically Defendant Nurse Practitioner Shannon Hussey (Respondent) involves unnecessary treatment, and improper injection of Kenalog into a normal scar that was healing well from melanoma excision surgery just 13 weeks prior. Ms. Hussey's injection caused injuries including severe atrophy that made a significant depression, which is detailed in medical records, MRI and PET/CT Scans, pictures and witness testimony. Furthermore, due to the extensive atrophy that damaged her leg and went all the way down to her

iliotibial band, Appellant was diagnosed with IT Band Syndrome. The Kenalog injection caused Ms. Gurry systemic effects that were diagnosed by medical professionals, and are listed side effects in the Kenalog Packet Insert.

At the pre-trial hearing the defense counsel sought a Motion to Challenge, Limit, and/or Exclude Plaintiff's dermatology expert Dr. Shield Wikas's testimony. The trial court granted the Motion in full, thus excluding Dr. Wikas' entire testimony. An expert witness was needed in this medical malpractice case, and therefore the exclusion of Dr. Wikas testimony, led to the Court filing an order granting Defendants' Motion for Summary Judgment.

On June 28, 2021 the Court hereby granted the Defendants Motion to Exclude Dr. Wikas' testimony from trial at a pre-trial hearing. The Order Granting Defendants' Motion to exclude Dr. Wikas' Testimony was filed on July 1, 2021. The Order Granting Defendants' Motion for Summary Judgment was filed on July 1, 2021. Appellant filed a Notice of Appeal on August 6, 2021.

FACTUAL BACKGROUND

Appellant was diagnosed with malignant melanoma on her right lateral thigh, it was surgical removed by a wide local excision on January 27, 2016 by Dr. Massesa. The surgery and recovery went well, and the thigh shape was normal with no depression that is evident in pictures, PET/CT scan, and medical records. Appellant was doing well, healthy and in great spirits since the PET/CT scan showed the melanoma did not metastasize.

Due to the seriousness of the malignant skin cancer diagnosis Appellant knew she wanted to established a good relationship with a dermatologist. She went to Myrtle Beach Dermatology, and had her first appointment with Nurse Practitioner Shannon Hussey on February 22, 2016. Ms. Hussey had been hired by her former husband Dr. Hussey, and at the time of the incident she had only 18 months of experience working at dermatology office, with no formal dermatology

education, nor training. Appellant returned on May 3, 2016, for a routine skin check. After the skin check Respondent looked at the well healing scar, and stated, "I have something that'll make that look better, I do it all the time" She left the room and returned a few minutes later with a syringe, and injected "kenalog" into a normal healing scar. Upon the first injection Appellant immediately told her it hurt, yet she continued injecting along the entire scar 5 inch scar.

Appellant endured painful major atrophy, that destroyed subcutaneous tissue, nerves, veins, and it went so deep it damaged the iliotibial band, leaving a significant indentation in her leg. An orthopedic doctor diagnosed her with ITB syndrome, therefore she was unable to lead the active lifestyle as an elite athlete she loved, and had to stop running. Appellant became ill with various systemic side effects that are documented side effects of Kenalog in the Packet Insert, and included in her medical records. She had to see many doctors medical professionals, and physical therapists to try and get well, they performed examinations, tests and scans and Appellant was diagnosed with diseases and disorders. Dr. Wikas had access and knowledge to all of the above information by medical records, pictures and testimony.

Appellant's expert witness Dr. Wikas used several avenues and resources to formulate his medical opinion for this case. He used his medical education in dermatology and pharmacy, and his professional experience as a veteran dermatologist for 38 years, and former pharmacist. As a dermatologist he has extensive clinical practice as well being an educator for future dermatologist. For this case Dr. Wikas reviewed medical records, test, scans, pictures, Kenalog Packet Insert and discovery in the case. He also did a thorough physical examination of Ms. Gurry's legs with emphasis on the depression and atrophy that the kenalog injection caused.

Per Appellant's consistent testimony, it states she was not informed by Ms. Hussey of any new "diagnosis" (hypertrophic scar), nor about the drug kenalog in any capacity. There was no

explanation of the invasive treatment of the kenalog injection, nor were first line non-invasive treatments discussed, nor the common sense option of letting it heal naturally offered. Appellant trusted her as a medical professional, and had no reason to believe , she'd be harmed, nor suffer any adverse side effects, as no informed consent was given, the only information she was told from Ms. Hussey was, "I have something that'll make it look better, I do it all the time."

Subsequently a few weeks after the injection, Appellant saw veteran dermatologist Dr. Sheretz, and was diagnosed with atrophy from the kenalog injection. Dr. Sheretz was in shock at the severity of the atrophy, and she voluntarily signed a statement stating what Ms. Hussey did was Below the Standard of Care. Dr. Wikas reviewed Dr. Sheretz medical records.

Dr. Wikas reviewed Coastal Cancer Center medical records on March 3, 2016 that show Appellant was in great health, on no medication, and the incision site was healing normally. Oncologist Dr. Markow wrote: "Overall, the patient's condition is unchanged...The patient notes no other significant modifying or associated signs or symptoms especially related to location, severity, duration, timing, context or quality...This patient reports not taking external medications." Dr. Markow thoroughly examined Ms. Gurry's incision both visually and manually, as melanoma is known to return to the primary tumor site. He documents in the medical records : "Right healing incision on the thigh. No significant erythema. Color and texture normal with no subcutaneous masses palpable. No rashes. No petechiae, ecchymosis or purpura."

Dr. Wikas reviewed Medical Records that included PET/CT Scans were he noted the skin and subcutaneous tissue changes from the "before the injection" scan to the "after the injection". PET/CT scan February 25, 2016 show she was healing well with no loss of subcutaneous tissue from her WLE surgery, thigh shape was normal. PET/CT scan September 21, 2016 show drastic change with major subcutaneous loss and a depression in thigh. Let it be known, a layperson

looking at the these scans would easily be able to point out the legs and note where the damage is on the "after the injection scan". Although Dr. Wikas is not a radiologist, he has looked at scans in his dermatology practice to examine skin and subcutaneous tissue.

Appellant had to go to many medical providers to try and get well. Ms. Gurry's medical records document the many serious side effects of the injection she suffered, all are stated in the Kenalog Packet Insert which Dr. Wikas is very knowledgeable about as a veteran dermatologist and former pharmacist..

STANDARD OF REVIEW

Standard of Review for Argument 1, 2 and 3:

A trial court's ruling on the admissibility of an expert's testimony constitutes an abuse of discretion when the ruling is manifestly arbitrary, unreasonable, or unfair. Qualification of an expert and the admission or exclusion of his testimony is a matter within the sound discretion of the trial court. The admission or exclusion of evidence in general is within the sound discretion of the trial court. In both instances, the trial court's decision will not be disturbed on appeal absent an abuse of discretion. *Gooding v. St. Francis Xavier Hosp.*, 326 S.C. 248, 252, 487 S.E.2d 596, 598 (1997). An abuse of discretion occurs when the ruling is based on an error of law or a factual conclusion that is without evidentiary support. *Fontaine v. Peitz*, 291 S.C. 536, 538, 354 S.E.2d 565, 566 (1987).

To warrant reversal based on the admission or exclusion of evidence, the appellant must prove both the error of the ruling and the resulting prejudice, i.e., that there is a reasonable probability the jury's verdict was influenced by the challenged evidence or the lack thereof. *Hanahan v. Simpson*, 326 S.C. 140, 156, 485 S.E.2d 903, 911 (1997)

Standard of Review for Argument 4:

In reviewing the summary judgment, the Appellate Court applies the same standard, which governs the trial court, and must view the evidence in the light most favorable to the party against whom was granted. In determining whether any judicial issues exist, the evidence and all reasonable inferences there from must be viewed in the light most favorable to the non-moving party. *Summer v. Carpenter*, 328 S.C. 36, 492 S.E.2d 55 (1997).

On appeal from an order granting summary judgment, the appellate court will review all inferences, ambiguities, and conclusions arising from the evidence in a light most favorable to the non-moving party. *Williams v. Chesterfield Lumber Co.*, 267 S.C. 607, 230 S.E.2d 447 (1976).

ARGUMENTS

I. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED BY FINDING EXPERT WITNESS' ENTIRE

OPINION IS BASED ON A THEORY OF RES IPSA LOQUITUR.

In the Order it states, "this Court finds that his entire opinion is based on a theory of res ipsa loquitur." This is not true. Dr. Wikas gave expert witness testimony that properly stated the standard of care, breaches, causation, and the injuries that occurred directly from Ms. Hussey's actions, and he clearly met all requirements. Dr. Wikas used the term "It speaks for itself" solely to show it was obvious and logical that the injection injured the patient by the "egregious" and "catastrophic" actions of the Respondent.

A. The Court did not take into consideration Expert Witness Dr. Wikas' testimony that clearly stated his opinions on the the breach of the standard of care, causation and injuries.

The Court ignored the majority and core of Dr. Wikas' opinion.

Dr. Wikas gave proper and reliable expert witness testimony stating clearly his opinions which met all the necessary requirements of a medical expert witness, yet this was overlooked and ignored by the Court.

At the pre-trial hearing Defense Counsel presented the Motion to challenge, limit &/or exclude Dr. Wikas Testimony. It is undeniable that the trial court erred in its analysis by granting the Motion in full, and excluding Dr. Wikas' entire testimony. The trial court opinion focused solely on a small portion of testimony where Dr. Wikas made a reference to "the thing speaks for itself" which was irrelevant in the light of his extensive testimony that easily met his expert witness obligations. The trial court ignored the fact that the majority of Dr. Wikas' deposition testimony focused on using his extensive knowledge, education, skill, experience and training as a dermatologist for nearly four decades to give his opinion on the case. It was arbitrary to decide that analysis would focus on a few statements in Dr. Wikas' testimony rather than the quality and quantity of his opinion that the Respondent breached the standard of care, and her negligence caused the Appellant's injuries. Dr. Wikas testified on numerous issues during deposition. Dr. Wikas is qualified to testify regarding everything dealing with dermatology and the skin, including wound healing from any kind of surgery. His testimony was clearly reliable and relevant to the case, and it would help laymen jurors understand the nature of what the kenalog injection does when properly injected, and improperly injected. The trial court erred by excluding all of Dr. Wikas' testimony without consideration to the relevance, significance, and most importantly, legitimacy of his professional opinions.

Dr. Wikas testified in the de bene esse deposition, his expert opinion to the standard of care, the breaches, causation, and injuries Appellant suffered due to the negligence of the Respondent.

In the de bene esse Deposition, Dr. Wikas testified about how to administer kenalog which is universally used in dermatology, and based on reliable medicine, pharmacological science, and techniques.

Q. How is Kenalog administered into an irregular thick scar, a keloid scar?

A. It's injected. You usually use a small syringe, certainly no bigger than three milliliters or -- and the needle that's used is usually an extremely fine needle, such as a 30-gauge needle. And when you inject the corticosteroid, you inject right into the keloidal tissue, the very thick tissue.

Q. And what happens if Kenalog is injected into healthy tissue and skin?

A. It will lead to thinning of the skin, what we call atrophy is the medical term. It can cause allow for the generation of new small blood vessels, capillaries, that are more obvious as the skin gets thinner

Dr. Wikas' physical examination of Appellant is another example of reliable medicine and science he used in determining his opinions on this case.

Q. And moving on, tell us about when you examined me and what was your assessment?

A. Your skin was thin, atrophic. It actually had a chicken skin appearance. There was an accentuation of blood vessels, some of them red, some of them bluish, but the most obvious appearance was a thinning of the skin and a bit of a depression.

Dr. Wikas states what he reviewed for the case, and gives testimony that Ms. Hussey's actions were "well below the standard of care", gave several breaches including misdiagnosis, unnecessary treatment, improper administration of Kenalog, and inadequate informed consent.

Q. What documents have you reviewed in this case?

A. I've reviewed clinical documents, I've reviewed affidavits, I've reviewed depositions, and other materials, a whole host of materials.

Q. What is your opinion of Shannon Hussey's treatment and the standard of care of May 3rd, 2016?

A. I felt that she fell below the standard of care because you had catastrophic thinning of the skin, a depression, accentuation of blood vessels, there was sensitivity to touch, so I felt that her activities were well below the standard of care.

Q. Regarding Shannon Hussey's deviation from the standard of care, please list the breaches.

A. The first breach was misdiagnosis. She diagnosed a hypertrophic scar when there was no hypertrophic scar. It was my impression that she injected too much corticosteroid, probably too deeply, too high a concentration, too large a volume.

Q. And regarding informed consent?

A. I don't feel that there was adequate informed consent given at the time, so I don't feel there was adequate informed consent given.

(R. p. 14, lines 15-25, R. p. 15, lines 1-25, R. p. 16, lines 1-14)

Dr. Wikas' expert opinion on hypertrophic scars is based on 38 years of dermatology clinical practice, and again reliable medicine.

Q. Explain how hypertrophic scars fade with time.

A. Hypertrophic scars can over time just go away by themselves if there's no treatment. A common way to treat a hypertrophic scar is massaging the area using a silicone gel or a sheet. The other option would be to inject a corticosteroid if it doesn't respond to anything.

Q. So you would try the noninvasive approaches before the invasive approach of the Kenalog injection?

A. Yes.

(R. p. 14, lines 3-14)

Dr. Wikas medical examination of Appellant ruled out any other skin &/or wound disorders , and substantiates his assessment of "catastrophic thinning of the skin" that caused a depression

destroying subcutaneous tissue which is a direct cause of Ms. Hussey's negligence. His vast experience as a dermatologist solidifies his opinion that what Ms. Hussey says she injected, and is written in the medical record can not be true. The pharmaceutical science of kenalog is based on several decades of universal clinical applications in dermatology offices worldwide. Dr. Wikas expands upon his opinion indicating further breach of standard of care by performing an unnecessary treatment on a scar that "was healing absolutely beautifully," and he gives the causation of Appellant's injury.

A. Dehiscence is when a wound comes apart. The other term is ruptures. It totally comes apart, and if we're talking about stitches, the stitches either break open or they eat through the skin. But it's literally when a wound opens up.

Q. Did you see any indication of this when you examined me?

A. No, I didn't.

Q. So Ms. Hussey's narration of the preparation and injection of the corticosteroid, what is your opinion on that?

A. I think the results speak for themselves. I've never seen, Ms. Hussey said she injected 3.3 milligrams of the corticosteroid into the incision site. I've injected that amount of concentration many, many times, literally at least hundreds of times, and I've never seen a wound implode. So my impression is, in all likelihood, she injected too high a concentration, too high a volume probably, too deep into the underlying tissue.

Q. And did you , the injection that Ms. Hussey did, did you think that that was necessary for any reason? A. In the photographs that I saw, the wound looked just fine. I saw no indication of a

hypertrophic scar, it was healing absolutely beautifully, and I think if no medication was used at all, the scar would have healed fantastically, beautifully, and maybe even not even visible.

(R. p. 21, lines 24-25, R. p. 22, lines 4-25, R. p. 23, lines 1-3,)

Q. So if you look at the dosage and administration, if you would go ahead and give your opinion on the enlarged in all caps last paragraph, if you'll expand upon that, page 15, so it's right below dosage and administration.

A. Yes. What is your question?

Q. Yes, so if you will explain, it says right here that, "It should be emphasized that the dosage requirements are variable and must be individualized on the basis of the disease under treatment and the response of the patient." How do you do that in your practice when deciding to inject a keloid scar?

A. First of all, in the dosage and medication given by Ms. Hussey, it was unnecessary. It should not have been given. Totally unnecessary. Second of all, you customize the medication, the dosage, the volume, to each individual. It has to be customized. The smallest amount would be the -- and that means smallest amount in terms of concentration, that is the number of milligrams, smallest amount in volume would be the most appropriate. A lot of times, one drop of the medication is sufficient in each injection site, and a lot of times that injection site is one.

Q. Okay. Great. Dr. Wikas, if you would do this, please, and put down the package insert. I want to go ahead and -- you can put that down because you have enough knowledge and even with your background in pharmaceutical education and what not, so I'd like to just move forward. You know enough about Kenalog 10 drug; is that correct?

A. I have sufficient background, yes.

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