THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM HORRY COUNTY
Benjamin H. Culbertson, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2021-000838
Case No. 2018-CP-26-5438

RECEIVED

Nov 14 2022

SC Court of Appeals

Tara Gurry,..... Appellant,

v.

Myrtle Beach Dermatology, LLC, Shannon Hussey,
and Richard Hussey, M.D.,..... Respondents.

BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS

ANDREW F. LINDEMANN
LINDEMANN & DAVIS, P.A.
5 Calendar Court, Suite 202
Post Office Box 6923
Columbia, South Carolina 29260
(803) 881-8920

CATHERINE H. HOLLAND
MARIAN W. SCALISE
LYDIA L. MAGEE
RICHARDSON, PLOWDEN
& ROBINSON, P.A.
2103 Farlow Street
Post Office Box 3646
Myrtle Beach, South Carolina
29578 (843) 443-3581

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

ARGUMENTS

I. The Appellant did not appeal each of the trial court's rulings on the motion in limine or the subsequent summary judgment order, and as a result, appellate review is barred by the "two-issue" rule.

The Appellant contends generally on appeal that the trial court erred in finding that the opinions offered by her medical expert witness, Schield Wikas, D.O., were unreliable and hence inadmissible, which then led to the trial court's grant of summary judgment in favor of the Respondents. In ruling in limine on the admissibility of Dr. Wikas's *de bene esse* deposition testimony, the trial court made several rulings, not all of which have been appealed by the Appellant, which thereby bars this appeal from being heard on the merits. Principally, the trial court ruled that "Dr. Wikas offered no opinion on how the Defendants' alleged breach in the standard of care was the proximate cause of Plaintiff's alleged damages, thereby rendering his testimony unreliable and inadmissible." (R. 291). However, as an alternative basis for excluding Dr. Wikas's testimony, the trial court also applied a Rule 403, SCRE, analysis and concluded that "his opinions are inadmissible on the basis that any probative value is substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice and would only confuse or mislead the jury as he testified that he gives the exact same injection which was used in this case without any problem; yet when NP Hussey gave the injection, it inexplicitly [sic] caused Plaintiff's alleged atrophy with no basis for his reasoning other than that an injury occurred." (R. 305-306). The trial court further found that Dr. Wikas's testimony on causation demonstrated that the injuries sustained by the Appellant were not legally foreseeable, resulting in no liability. (R. 327-328).

A careful review of the Appellant's opening brief and her Statement of Issues for Appeal do not reflect that she has appealed the two alternative rulings set forth above. She clearly did not

appeal the exclusion of Dr. Wikas's testimony based on a Rule 403 analysis. Likewise, she did not appeal the ruling that Dr. Wikas's testimony did not support a finding of legal foreseeability, which is a necessary component of proximate cause. Those alternative bases for judgment in favor of the Respondents are, therefore, the law of the case, and appellate review is barred by the "two-issue" rule. In applying this rule, the Supreme Court has explained that "where a decision is based on more than one ground, the appellate court will affirm unless the appellant appeals all grounds because the unappealed ground will become the law of the case." *Jones v. Lott*, 387 S.C. 339, 692 S.E.2d 900, 903 (2010). Similarly, in *Folkens v. Hunt*, 290 S.C. 194, 348 S.E.2d 839 (Ct. App. 1986), this Court held that "[a]n alternative ruling of a lower court that is not excepted to constitutes a basis for affirming the lower court and is not reviewable on appeal." 348 S.E.2d at 845.

In short, it is not necessary for this Court to even reach any of the issues raised by the Appellant. Instead, this Court may affirm the exclusion of Dr. Wikas's causation testimony as well as the summary judgment based on the trial court's unappealed rulings.

II. The trial court correctly excluded as unreliable and inadmissible the causation testimony offered by the Appellant's sole medical expert witness.

South Carolina law requires a plaintiff in a medical malpractice case to present: "(1) evidence of the generally recognized practice and procedures that would be exercised by competent practitioners in a defendant doctor's field of medicine under the same or similar circumstances; and (2) evidence that the defendant doctor departed from the recognized and generally accepted standards, practices, and procedures in the manner alleged by the plaintiff." *Gooding v. St. Francis Xavier Hospital*, 326, S.C. 248, 487 S.E.2d 596, 599 (1997). In addition, "the plaintiff must show

that the defendants' departure from such generally recognized practices and procedures was the proximate cause of the plaintiff's alleged injuries and damages." *David v. McLeod Regional Medical Center*, 367 S.C. 242, 626 S.E.2 1, 4 (2006).

In the case at bar, the Appellant relied on expert testimony of Schield Wikas, D.O., who is a dermatologist, to establish the standard of care owed by NP Shannon Hussey.¹ As a result, it was incumbent on the Appellant to present expert testimony to show that any alleged breach of the standard of care proximately caused harm to her. On this critical issue of proximate cause, the trial court ruled that "Dr. Wikas offered no opinion on how the Defendants' alleged breach in the standard of care was the proximate cause of Plaintiff's alleged damages, thereby rendering his testimony unreliable and inadmissible." (R. 291). In fulfilling its gatekeeper role under Rule 702, SCRE, the trial court's causation rulings in limine are three-fold. First, the trial court found that Dr. Wikas improperly relied on the doctrine of *res ipsa loquitor*, which is not recognized under South Carolina law. (R. 302). Second, the trial court found that "Dr. Wikas did not once testify to a reasonable degree of medical certainty that the Kenalog injected by the Defendant Nurse Practitioner Hussey was most probably the cause of the Plaintiff's atrophy or other alleged side-effects." (R. 293). And third, the trial court found "Dr. Wikas's opinions regarding the occurrence of Plaintiff's alleged injury from an intralesional Kenalog injection are not based upon reliable medicine or science making them unreliable." (R. 304). The trial court did not abuse its discretion in making these separate and independent causation rulings which support the summary judgment as entered by the court below.

¹ Dr. Wikas was the only medical expert witness to be offered by the Appellant.

A. Law on Admissibility of Expert Opinions

The admission of expert testimony is governed by Rule 702, SCRE, which provides:

If scientific, technical, or other specialized knowledge will assist the trier of fact to understand the evidence or to determine a fact in issue, a witness qualified as an expert by knowledge, skill experience, training, or education may testify thereto in the form of an opinion or otherwise.

Rule 702, SCRE. The South Carolina Supreme Court has recognized that "expert testimony receives additional scrutiny relative to other evidentiary decisions." *Watson v. Ford Motor Co.*, 389 S.C. 434, 699 S.E.2d 169, 175 (2010). In fulfilling its "gatekeeping" duties, a trial court is required to make "three key preliminary findings which are fundamental to Rule 702 before the jury may consider expert testimony." *Id.* The third of those findings requires the trial court to "evaluate the substance of the testimony and determine whether it is reliable." *Id.* In other words, "[a]ll expert testimony must satisfy the Rule 702 criteria, and that includes the trial court's gatekeeping function in ensuring the proposed expert testimony meets a reliability threshold for the jury's ultimate consideration." *State v. White*, 382 S.C. 265, 676 S.E.2d 684 (2009).

The Supreme Court has stressed that "[r]eliability is a central feature of Rule 702 admissibility." *Id.* The Court has explained as follows:

[T]he trial courts of this state have a gatekeeping role with respect to all evidence sought to be admitted under Rule 702, whether the evidence is scientific or nonscientific. In the discharge of its gatekeeping role, a trial court must assess the threshold foundational requirements of qualifications and reliability and further find that the proposed evidence will assist the trier of fact. The familiar evidentiary mantra that a challenge to evidence goes to "weight, not admissibility" may be invoked only after the trial court has vetted the matters of qualifications and reliability and admitted the evidence.

White, 676 S.E.2d at 689. As the Supreme Court stated in *White*, the case of *State v. Council*,

335 S.C. 1, 515 S.E.2d 508 (1999), is the leading case that addresses "the gatekeeping role of the trial court with regard to expert testimony under Rule 702, as well as the standard reliability factors for scientific evidence." 676 S.E.2d at 688. In evaluating the reliability of scientific expert testimony, the Court considers factors which include: "(1) the publications and peer review of the technique; (2) prior application of the method to the type of evidence involved in the case; (3) the quality control procedures used to ensure reliability; and (4) the consistency of the method with recognized scientific laws and procedures." *Council*, 515 S.E.2d at 517.

In sum, as the Supreme Court reaffirmed in *Watson*, "[t]he trial court serves as the gatekeeper in the admission of all evidence presented at trial, and in making admissibility determinations, the trial court is required to make certain preliminary findings regarding admissibility requirements, such as qualification of experts, reliability of the substance of the testimony, and substantial similarity of alleged similar incidents, before a jury may hear the evidence." *Watson*, 699 S.E.2d at 180. "If these preliminary requirements are not met, as a matter of law, the trial court may not permit the jury to consider the evidence." *Id.*

B. Doctrine of *Res Ipsa Loquitur*

The trial court correctly ruled that Dr. Wikas relied on the doctrine of *res ipsa loquitur*, which is not recognized under South Carolina law. The trial court relied on this Court's decision in *Fletcher v. Medical University of South Carolina*, 390 S.C. 458, 702 S.E.2d 372 (Ct. App. 2010). In that case, the plaintiff sued a physician who performed a subclavian bypass, alleging that the injuries to her phrenic nerve and thoracic duct were the result of the physician's negligence. The plaintiff's expert testified that the physician was negligent, but then proceeded to say that he could not point to any technique in the procedure that was deficient. Instead, the

plaintiff "asks us to conclude that the occurrence of a complication is itself evidence of negligence." 702 S.E.2d at 374. In rejecting that argument, this Court relied on the fact that South Carolina law does not recognize the doctrine of *res ipsa loquitur*. In affirming a directed verdict for the physician, this Court held that the plaintiff was responsible for showing precisely how the physician deviated from the standard of care, and that the occurrence of a complication is not evidence of negligence.

This Court in *Fletcher* also cited to the case of *Bowie v. Hearn*, 292 S.C. 223, 355 S.E.2d 550 (Ct. App. 1987), with the following analysis:

Bowie sued the physician who delivered him via cesarean section because he was cut on the cheek during the procedure, resulting in a scar. Bowie's expert testified the standard of care required the physician not to cut the baby. In analyzing the sufficiency of this testimony, the court alluded to another oft-cited medical malpractice case [*Cox v. Lund*, 286 S.C. 410, 334 S.E.2d 116 (1985)] and stated:

"Under the plaintiff's reasoning in this case [Bowie I] the doctors in *Cox* could simply have testified that normally colons are not perforated during colonoscopies, the standard of care, therefore, is a doctor should not perforate the colon, and to do so violates the standard of care. Such reasoning would, in effect, make a doctor an insurer of [a] perfect result in every surgical procedure. A doctor is not an insurer of health and negligence may not be inferred."

Fletcher, 702 S.E.2d at 374-375, citing *Bowie*, 355 S.E.2d at 552. These principles of law were reiterated by the Supreme Court in *Watson*, *supra*, where the Court explained that a plaintiff "may not rely solely on the fact that an accident occurred to prove ... their case under a negligence theory since South Carolina does not follow the doctrine of *res ipsa loquitur*." *Watson*, 699 S.E.2d at 179.

As the trial court correctly found, the reasoning in *Fletcher* is on point. Dr. Wikas's trial testimony reflects beyond dispute that he was relying on the doctrine of *res ipsa loquitur* to opine that the Appellant's injury itself demonstrates negligence. The trial court cited to the following excerpts from Dr. Wikas's trial testimony in making that finding:

Q. Dr. Wikas, as I understand your opinion in this case, your opinion is that you see a depression or atrophy on Tara Gurry's leg, correct?

A. Correct.

Q. And your opinion is that something must have been done wrong to have caused that atrophy, correct?

A. Correct.

Q. You don't know exactly what, but something had to have been done wrong, correct?

A. I thought it was due to the injection of excessive concentration, excessive volume of Kenalog.

Q. All right. Because I think the way you explained in your deposition is the thing speaks for itself.

A. Correct.

Q. Okay. Basically, a *res ipsa loquitur*. ... In fact, it's kind of a legal term, *res ipsa loquitur*, that the fact that there's been an injury, somebody must have done something wrong to have caused that, correct?

A. In this case, yes.

(R. 60-61). Dr. Wikas further testified as follows:

Q. ... And you would agree though that if Nurse Practitioner Hussey had administered 3.3 milligrams per cc of an intralesional steroid for a hypertrophic scar, that would be an appropriate amount and concentration, correct?

A. Correct.

Q. So, based on the medical record of May the 3rd, 2016, that was the amount and the concentration of intralesional steroid that was documented in the record, correct?

A. Correct.

Q. So, what Nurse Practitioner Hussey documented as far as what she injected, that would be acceptable and that meets

the standard of care, but you just don't believe that she did that, correct?

A. Correct.

(R. 61-62).

Q. So, Doctor, you would agree that the amount of approximately 1 cc of a 3.3 milligram of intralesional steroid, that should not cause the depression like what you see in Ms. Gurry's leg, correct?

A. Yes, you're correct.

Q. Okay. So the amount, you would not expect that to cause the depression or atrophy if you're giving 1 cc of about 3.3 milligrams of Kenalog?

A. That's correct.

Q. And, in fact, you've never seen, you've never heard, you've never even seen it anywhere in the literature that approximately 1 cc of 3.3 milligrams of an intralesional steroid would cause a depression like what Ms. Gurry had, correct?

A. Correct.

(R. 63).

Q. ... You've never seen ever that 1 cc of 3.3 milligrams of Kenalog is going to cause what you see in Tara Gurry's leg, correct?

A. Correct.

Q. You've never heard of something like that happening, correct?

A. Correct.

Q. You've never seen anything in any literature that would describe that type of result with about 1 cc of 3.3 milligrams of Kenalog, correct?

A. Correct.

Q. And you yourself, as you've testified, you give intralesional steroid Kenalog in your patients, correct?

A. Yes.

Q. And you've done that hundreds of times, correct?

A. Yes.

Q. And you've given that medication in doses that could even be higher than 3.3 milligrams, correct?

A. Yes.

Q. And you have never had any depression ever, correct?

A. Correct.

(R. 64-65).

Q. ... So your testimony is the fact of the result, she had to have done something wrong?

A. Yes.

(R. 103).

The Appellant is critical that defense counsel "baited" Dr. Wikas to admit to relying on *res ipsa loquitor* as the basis for his opinions on causation. However, on his direct examination in response to questions from the *pro se* Appellant herself and before any cross examination took place, Dr. Wikas was asked for his opinions on "the preparation and injection of the corticosteroid," and he replied: "*I think the results speak for themselves.* I've never seen – Ms. Hussey said she injected 3.3 milligrams of the corticosteroid into the incision site. I've injected that amount in concentration many, many times, literally at least hundreds of times, and I've never seen a wound implode." (R. 22). (Emphasis added). That is the classic application of the doctrine of *res ipsa loquitor*. There was no error committed by the trial court, and certainly no showing of any abuse of

discretion that warrants a reversal.

C. No Testimony of "Significant Causal Link"

Additionally, the trial court concluded that "Dr. Wikas did not once testify to a reasonable degree of medical certainty that the Kenalog injected by the Defendant Nurse Practitioner Hussey was most probably the cause of the Plaintiff's atrophy or other alleged side-effects." (R. 293). Notably, the Appellant does not challenge this ruling on causation. The record shows that the trial court's ruling is correct and should be affirmed.

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